IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

EDWARD ADAM FRIDOVICH, )  
 )  
 Petitioner, )  
 )  
 v. )  
 )  
 STATE OF FLORIDA, )  
 )  
 Respondent. )  
 )  
 )  
 \_\_\_\_\_ )

CASE NO. 73,921

FILED  
JUN 28 1993 C  
CLERK, SUPREME COURT  
By: *pl*  
County Clerk

ON REVIEW OF A CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE FOURTH  
DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

GLEN L. BROCK  
Post Office Box 5004  
Lakeland, Florida 33807  
(813) 644-0488  
Counsel for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner Edward Adam Fridovich was the Defendant/Appellant below. Respondent State of Florida was the Plaintiff/Appellee below.

References to the record on appeal in the district court below will be shown as (R. page no.).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This Court has accepted jurisdiction of this case upon certification by the Fourth District Court of Appeal of the State of Florida of the following question of great public importance:

WHERE A PERSON CHARGED WITH FIRST DEGREE MURDER IS CONVICTED OF MANSLAUGHTER, WHICH CONVICTION IS REVERSED FOR A NEW TRIAL DUE TO TRIAL ERRORS, AND UPON REMAND A NEW INFORMATION CHARGING MANSLAUGHTER IS FILED AND TIMELY PROSECUTED AND ALL PARTIES ARE FULLY AWARE THAT THE **SAME** CRIMINAL EPISODE IS INVOLVED, IS THE PROSECUTION OF THE SECOND INFORMATION A CONTINUATION OF THE ORIGINAL PROSECUTION SO THAT THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS REMAINS TOLLED THROUGHOUT THE PROSECUTION?

Fridovich v. State, So.2d , 14 F.L.W. 100 (Fla. 4th DCA, Jan. 4, 1989).

Upon so acquiring jurisdiction, this Court may dispose of all issues raised before the district court of appeal. See, Hillsborough Ass'n for Retarded

Citizens v. City of Temple Terrace, 332 So.2d 610 (Fla. 1976); Kennedy v. Kennedy, 303 So.2d 629 (Fla. 1974).

Petitioner Edward Adam Fridovich was originally charged with first-degree murder arising from the December 4, 1981, death of his father. A jury verdict of manslaughter was appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal and reversed because the trial court had refused to allow the Broward County Medical Examiner to testify for Petitioner that the shooting was accidental. The case was remanded for a new trial or further proceedings by mandate issued August 1, 1986. Thereafter, on September 18, 1986, the State filed an information styled "Re-file Information for Manslaughter," in which it was alleged that Petitioner, through his own act, procurement or culpable negligence did kill . . . Martin Fridovich [his father], by shooting him with a firearm . . . contrary to F.S. 782.07" (manslaughter). (R. 588-589).

Prior to trial, Petitioner moved in limine to restrict the trial evidence to that probative of manslaughter and to exclude evidence of any higher offense on the ground of double jeopardy. (R. 590-591). That motion was granted. (R. 599-601).

Petitioner filed a second motion in limine stating that it had become apparent during discovery that the

State still intended to attempt to call witnesses at trial who would testify to offenses other than manslaughter, specifically murder, for which Petitioner was not on trial. (R. 604-605). The trial court addressed that second motion prior to jury selection on the morning of the first day of trial:

(The Court)

The only way to avoid such a situation is that the court has to limit the state strictly to the offense of manslaughter. Specifically, to prohibit the state from making any reference to events for which the defendant is not on trial. That seems legitimate.

I totally agree.

Again, I'm not going to pretry the case. I grant your Motion in Limine.

[Note: this portion of the trial transcript was erroneously omitted by the court reporter at the time the transcript was prepared. It has subsequently been transcribed and should be part of the record. The relevant page was additionally included as an appendix to Petitioner's brief before the district court of appeal. 1

Following the death of Petitioner's father, investigating officers and the Broward County Medical Examiner concluded that the shooting was an accident caused by the discharge of Petitioner's shotgun as he



was removing it from a case in preparation for cleaning it. Petitioner had told investigators he was seated on a sofa some six feet from his father when the gun somehow discharged. The only testimony provided by the State at the first trial was from members of Petitioner's family, who testified that he had told them that he planned the murder of his father. (R. 602-605, 606-607). None of these witnesses were called at the second trial. Instead, the State relied almost exclusively on the testimony of a blood-spatter expert, Rod Englert, who testified that based on his examination of photographs of the decedent and tests conducted by firing shotgun shells into various objects with characteristics similar to the human head, he felt the shot that killed the decedent had to have been a "contact" wound fired from a distance of one inch or less. (R. 288-298).

Prior to this testimony being presented at trial, Petitioner objected to its use on several grounds. First, Petitioner argued that should a witness testify that someone had placed a gun less than an inch from someone's head and pulled the trigger, the only logical inference for the jury to draw would be that the person with the gun intended to effect the death of the person against whose head the gun was pressed. He also prof-

ferred the testimony of Capt. Hoffner, the investigator who led the investigation of the death. At deposition Capt. Hoffner had been asked what crime he would charge a person with if he had evidence of the nature Mr. Englert was offering. Capt. Hoffner's response was that he would charge such person with murder. (R. 284). Petitioner argued that the blood-spatter expert's testimony was clearly "murder" testimony, and to allow it would be in violation of the order granting the motion in limine. That argument was rejected and the testimony allowed. (R. 71-79, 286-287).

Petitioner next moved for a mistrial on the ground that Petitioner had reasonably assumed the court would never allow the blood-spatter testimony in evidence and thus had not obtained a similar expert to refute said testimony. Under such circumstances, Petitioner suggested that a mistrial should be granted and that Petitioner should have an opportunity to prepare a defense for such unexpected testimony. (R. 82-86). That motion was denied. R. 86, 286-287).

Petitioner testified, as he had at the first trial, that he and his father had been watching television after their evening meal. Petitioner brought his shotgun and cleaning kit into the room in anticipation of a pending hunting trip. As he began to

remove the gun from its case while seated on a sofa some six feet from his father, the weapon somehow discharged and struck his father. (R. 417-424).

Petitioner called Dr. Larry Tate as a witness. Dr. Tate, an assistant medical examiner, conducted an investigation into the deceased's death and determined it to have been accidental. On cross-examination, the State asked: even if Petitioner did indeed fire the shotgun four to six feet from his father, how could Dr. Tate be certain Petitioner did not intentionally shoot his father from that distance? (R. 164). Petitioner's immediate motions for a curative jury instruction and mistrial were denied. (R. 165-167).

At the trial's conclusion, the jury returned a verdict of guilty of manslaughter. (R. 688).

Following the verdict, Petitioner moved for a judgment of acquittal on the basis that the Information, which was filed more than four and one-half years after the alleged offense, was fatally flawed in that on its face it was barred by the statute of limitations. Section 775.15, Florida Statutes (1981), provides that prosecution for a first-degree felony must be commenced within four years, and prosecution for any lesser felony must be commenced within three years. Petitioner argued that since the

"Re-File Information" on its face was filed outside the applicable statute of limitations and contained no appropriate language linking it to an earlier, timely commenced prosecution, the prosecution was barred. (R. 569-570, 672-673). That motion was denied (R. 710-7131, as was a motion for new trial. (R. 676).

Petitioner raised three issues on the ensuing appeal: (1) the bar of the statute of limitations; (2) error in allowing "murder" evidence in the manslaughter trial; and (3) failure of the trial court to grant a mistrial upon announcing during trial that "murder" evidence would be admissible.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed Petitioner's judgment of conviction and stated that only the first of the points on appeal merited consideration. That court concluded:

The record in this case contains no suggestion that the appellant was hampered in the slightest in the preparation of his defense. He was always on notice of the criminal activity with which he was charged, i.e., the unlawful demise of his father at his hands. The original information charging first degree murder progressed expeditiously resulting in the first manslaughter verdict. Due to errors in the trial this court reversed that conviction for a new trial. Six weeks after our mandate issued, a new information was filed as appears appropriate. Jeopardy had surely attached as to all degrees of homicide greater than manslaughter, thus preclud-

ing use of the original information charging murder in the first degree. The new information, styled "Re-file Information for Manslaughter" charged the same defendant with committing the same crime of which he had been originally convicted. The parties, the subject matter, the dates involved -- everything involved was the same; except the crime charged was a substantially lesser degree of the crime charged in the first information. The first tactic taken by appellant in the second phase of the case after the new information was filed was his successful move to preclude the adduction of any evidence by the state supporting premeditated first degree murder .

It thus appears to us that the prosecution under the second information was mandated by the reversal of the original conviction by this court and that it was clear to all involved a continuation of the original prosecution, which in no way prejudiced appellant. We, therefore, hold that the statute of limitations was tolled by the filing of the original information and continued to be tolled throughout the prosecutions under the second information.

Because there are cases containing language that might appear to conflict with our holding here, such as ~~Mead v. State~~, 101 So.2d 373 (Fla. 1958), and Rubin v. State, 390 So.2d 322 (Fla. 1980), and because we believe this is a question of great public importance, we certify the following question to the Supreme Court of Florida. . . .

Fridovich v. State, supra 14 FL.W. at 100.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In its manslaughter prosecution of Petitioner, the State failed to plead or prove an offense committed within the statute of limitations.

On its face, the "Re-file Information" sets out a time-barred offense. Although events may toll the running of the statute of limitations, those events must be set out in the charging instrument. If the tolling event is a prior prosecution, the "amended" information must establish a "linkage" to that prosecution by referring to it by number or in some other manner to facially demonstrate the continuation of a former prosecution. In no case in which the subsequent instrument charges a different crime than that in the instrument which is ostensibly the subject of continuation has a defendant been held to answer absent such linkage.

Petitioner had no obligation to raise this issue prior to trial. It is well established that the issue may be raised at trial, post-trial, or for the first time on appeal. Petitioner raised the issue at the jury charge conference. The State had the opportunity to seek amendment of this information, but failed to do so. It is thereby bound by it and by the statute of limitations.

Even if this Court were to recede from precedent and find this information to be sufficient to support a conviction, Petitioner is nevertheless entitled to discharge because the evidence adduced at trial proved the bar of the statute of limitations. When the State relies on "tolling" events, it is required to prove such events at trial.

The jurisdiction of this Court extends to all issues in this case, not just the limitations question upon which review has been granted. Two other errors of the trial court require reversal of Petitioner's conviction, although not his discharge.

The first such error is the use of expert testimony by the State to establish premeditation and intent on the part of Petitioner -- proof of first-degree murder in a manslaughter case. This issue and all issues of intent, other than that underlying manslaughter, were decided in Petitioner's favor in the first trial. The collateral estoppel aspect of double jeopardy precluded the use of murder evidence in the manslaughter trial.

The second error is closely related. The "murder" evidence which was impermissibly permitted at trial had previously been excluded by the granting of a motion in limine. This surprise recession of the trial court from

its own order left Petitioner without adequate opportunity to respond to the "murder" evidence, and his timely motion for mistrial should have been granted. If Petitioner is not entitled to discharge, he is at least entitled to an opportunity for a fair trial free of surprise.

#### ARGUMENT

- I. THE CONVICTION OF PETITIONER WAS BASED UPON AN INFORMATION THAT FACIALLY ESTABLISHED THE BAR OF THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AND SET OUT NO FACTS TO ESTABLISH LEGALLY SUFFICIENT "LINKAGE" TO ANY PRIOR CHARGING INSTRUMENT.

The manslaughter information styled "Re-file Information" was filed on September 18, 1986, and alleged an offense on December 4, 1981. On its face, therefore, the "Re-file" was outside the three-year statute of limitations for manslaughter. § 775.15, Fla. Stat. (1981).

The Fourth District Court of Appeal stated that it was "clear" that the "Re-file" was a continuation of the original prosecution, even though prior decisions of this Court reach a contrary conclusion. As stated most recently in Rubin v. State, 390 So.2d 322 (Fla., 1980):



A subsequently filed information, which contains language indicating that it is a continuation of the same prosecution, timely commenced will not be considered an abandonment of the first information and therefore will not be barred by the statute of limitations. Mead v. State, 101 So.2d 373 (Fla.1958); State v. Adjmi, 170 So.2d 340 (Fla. 3d DCA 1965).

The question then is whether the second information is a continuation of the prosecution timely commenced on June 1, 1977. The answer turns on whether the language, "Refile of Case No. 77-4257," contained on the second information is sufficient to link it to the first information so as to evidence a continuation of the same prosecution. Mead v. State; State v. Adjmi.

390 So.2d at 324.

This Court has reached differing conclusions on such "linkage," dependent upon the particular wording of the subsequent or "amended" charging instrument.

In Mead v. State, 101 So.2d 373 (Fla. 1958), prosecution was commenced by an information setting out two counts of theft of copper wire, with weights of the wire and dates of the offenses designated in each count. A second information was then filed, entitled "Amended Information," which apparently combined the poundage of the wire into a single grand larceny count and changed the dates. A third information, entitled "Second Amended Information for Grand Larceny," was then filed which replicated all the allegations of the first count of the original information. This third

instrument, upon which the defendant was convicted, was filed after the running of the statute of limitations. This Court reversed that appellant's conviction on the basis that other than the use of the word "amended," "there was nothing to link it [the Second Amended Information] to the first one so we held that the first one had been abandoned." Rubin v. State, supra 390 So.2d at 324 (explaining Mead v. State, supra).

In DiStefano v. Langston, 274 So.2d 533 (Fla. 1973), this Court found what it termed to be "magic linkage language," 274 So.2d at 535, where an information was amended "to add factual data regarding dates of the initial indictments and service of arrest warrants upon the defendants at earlier dates within the two-year statute. . . ." Id. Further, the same conspiracy offense was alleged in both instruments.

Sufficient "linkage" was likewise found in Rubin v. State, supra, where the "amended" information charged the same crime and changed only a slight inaccuracy in the name of the corporate victim. 390 So.2d at 324. See also, State v. Garofalo, 453 So.2d 905 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984) (linkage found where new information stated "refile case number 78-3887 CF," charged same crime and alleged same facts with exception of name of victim); Domberg v. State ex rel.

Peach, 443 So.2d 119 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), review denied, 449 So.2d 264 (Fla. 1984) (linkage found for "amended indictment" charging same crime in verbatim language); State v. Adjmi, 170 So.2d 340, 342 n.4 (Fla. 3d DCA 1964) (linkage established by recitation in subsequent information of history of proceeding).

The common thread through these cases is that linkage is established by alleging the same offense and/or by making reference to the existence of the prior charge by case number or date. None of these elements are present here.

The "Re-file Information for Manslaughter" in the case sub judice charges a different crime than the indictment returned on January 14, 1983, which charged that Petitioner effected the death of his father "from a premeditated design" and committed murder in the first degree. § 782.04, Fla. Stat. (1981). Nothing in the "Re-file" links this charging instrument to the prior charging instrument other than that some (but not all) of the facts alleged are the same. This case therefore is governed by Mead v. State, supra, and is outside all of the various "linkage" exceptions discussed above.

This "Re-file" information, which on its face shows the running of the statute of limitations, is not merely "technically" flawed. It is substantially

defective because it fails to allege an offense to which the accused can legally be held to answer. The district court of appeal, however, was of the opinion that the statute of limitations is a mere "notice" provision, and that Petitioner was required to show some "prejudice" from the substantially defective information.

The statute of limitations is to be "liberally construed" in favor of criminal defendants who have no responsibility to plead it as a bar to their prosecution. Mead v. State, supra 101 So.2d at 375. Accord, State v. King, 282 So.2d 162, 165 (Fla. 1973). As more recently stated by this Court:

[T]he state must show in the information or indictment that the prosecution "for the offense charged" has begun within the statute of limitations. Horton v. Mayo, 153 Fla. 611, 15 So.2d 327 (1943); Rouse v. State, 44 Fla. 148, 32 So. 784 (1902). The charging document may meet this requirement by showing on its face the date of the crime and the date the document issued. If, however, it appears from the date shown on the charging document that the statute of limitations may have run, the statute must allege facts necessary to show the statute was tolled for the offense charged before prosecution commenced.

Sturdivan v. State, 419 So.2d 300, 301-02 (Fla. 1982).

In the case sub judice, Petitioner raised the fact that the offense as charged was barred by the statute

of limitations by specifically objecting to the trial court's intention not to give a statute-of-limitations jury instruction. (R. 554-555). Petitioner also moved for a directed verdict on the ground that the charged offense was barred by the statute of limitations (R. 569-570, 672-673) and moved for a new trial on that ground. (R. 676). The issue therefore was timely raised and preserved. The defendant has no burden of raising the issue of the statute of limitations prior to or during the trial. A defendant may raise it for the first time on a motion for new trial. Mead v. State, supra 101 So.2d at 375. A defendant may even raise it for the first time on appeal. Maguire v. State, 453 So.2d 438, 440 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984).

The State was on notice that the statute of limitations was in issue prior to submission of the case to the jury. The State chose to stand on the "Re-file Information" rather than seeking amendment and attempting linkage. The State clearly had this right and the opportunity to exercise it, but it elected not to do so. See, Budd v. State, 477 So.2d 52 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985); Holland v. State, 359 So.2d 28 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978).

The "Re-file Information" stood alone and predicated jurisdiction over Appellant on an offense

which on its face was time-barred. It set out an entirely new offense and an entirely different scienter than that in the indictment. No linkage whatsoever was set out to establish a "continuation" of prosecution. The decision below must therefore be reversed and Petitioner ordered to be discharged.

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