IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 73,921

4th DCA CASE NO. 87-0409

FILED SID J. WHITE

AUG 30 1989

UAA 20 1309

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Deputy Clerk

EDWARD ADAM FRIDOVICH,

Petitioner,

VS .

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

On Review from the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Fourth District

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTI-I Attorney General Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050

DEBORAH GULLER

Assistant Attorney General Fla. Bar No. 475696 111 *Georgia* Avenue, Ste. 204 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Respondent

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent was the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal and was the prosecution in the trial court. Petitioner was the Appellant in the appeal proceedings and the defendant at the trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts the Statement of the Case and Facts as presented on pages one (1) through eight (8) of Initial Brief of Petitioner with the following additions and/or corrections:

Petitioner was given the opportunity to give the Court a curative instruction regarding a prosecution question as to intent. (R. 166-67). Petitioner failed to supply a proper curative instruction, and therefore, the jury was not given one. (R. 167). The "refiled" information was not barred by the statute of limitations.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

POINTS I & II

The instant charging document was timely filed in that it related back to the original charging document. Due to the reversal and remand from his first trial, Petitioner was on notice of the instant prosecution. Petitioner's actions waived his defense.

POINT III

The testimony objected to as violative of double jeopardy prohibitions was proper proof of manslaughter.

Petitioner was charged with manslaughter by act, procurement or culpable negligence, thereby necessitating some evidence of intent. There was no premeditation testimony. Petitioner mischaracterizes as "intent" evidence the testimony as to the distance of gun muzzle to target.

POINT IV

The trial court exercised its discretion in denying

Petitioner's Motion for Mistrial. The Petitioner received a fair

trial. There was no contradiction between the denial of a

mistrial motion and the granting of Petitioner's Motions in

Limine.

ARGUMENT

POINTS I & II

THE INFORMATION UNDERLYING THE INSTANT PROSECUTION AND CONVICTION IS NOT BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS; THE ORIGINAL PROSECUTION TOLLED THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

The re-filed information leading to the second trial, does not constitute a violation of double jeopardy prohibitions. 1

[R]eversal for trial error, as distinguished from evidentiary insufficiency, does not constitute a decision to the effect that the government has failed to prove its case. As such, it implies nothing with respect to the guilt or innocence of the defendant. Rather, it is a determination that a defendant has been convicted through a judicial process which is defective in some fundamental respect, e.g., incorrect receipt or rejection of evidence, incorrect instructions, or prosecutorial misconduct. When this occurs, the accused has a strong interest in obtaining a fair readjudication of his guilt free from error, just as society maintains a valid concern for insuring that the guilty are punished.

Burks v. Untied States, 437 U.S. 1, 16 (1978); Greene v. Massey, 437 U.S. 19, 25-26 (1978). Concomitantly, speedy trial guarantees have not been violated either.

Petitioner's claim that the instant prosecution was barred by the statute of limitations is based on the lack of

A new trial was ordered "because the trial court refused to allow an expert witness to testify for Fridovich that the shooting was accidental". <u>Fridovich v. State</u>, 537 So.2d 648 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989).

language connecting the second information to the earlier prosecution and that the information charges an entirely different offense. In addressing, and subsequently denying Petitioner's direct appeal based on the statute of limitations, the Fourth District Court of Appeal rejected the time/bar allegations. Fridovich v. State, 537 So.2d 648 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) (Appendix A).

That the instant information provides a sufficient relation back to the first charging document has been recognized, by analogy, by this Court. "[T]he victim was properly identified in the information under which Rubin was tried and convicted.

..." Rubin v. State, 390 So.2d 321, 325 (Fla. 1980), (R. 588),

A subsequently filed information, which contains language indicating that is a continuation of the same prosecution, timely commenced will not be considered an abandonment of the first information and therefore will not be barred by the statute of limitations. Mead v. State, 101 So.2d 373 (Fla. 1958).

Id. at 324. Furthermore, although the Petitioner now contests the running of the statute of limitations without a proper tolling; his assertions, notwithstanding his waiver of this defense, are invalid as the form and substance of his defense is invalid. "When the state seeks to prosecute after the statute of limitations has expired, the proper method to prevent the prosecution is by [Writ of] Prohibition." Carcaise v. Durden, 382 So.2d 1236, 1237 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980) (emphasis added). Subjudice, Petitioner's defense was not properly preserved. He

requested jury instructions and moved for a Judgment of Acquittal and Motioned for a New Trial. (R. 672, 676), but he did not seek a Petition for a Writ of Prohibition. See also, State v. Bryson, 380 So.2d 468 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1980):

A petition for a writ of prohibition is a proper method of seeking to prevent prosecution where the limitations period has [allegedly] run. See Reino v. State, 352 So.2d 853 (Fla. 1977).

Id. at 468.

Notwithstanding Respondent's position that the Re-filed Information (R. 588) was a proper relation back to the first information:

The defendant was put on notice within the statutory time period as to the criminal activity with which he was charged, and the superceding information did not make any substantive charges which would unreasonably prejudice the preparation of his defense.

State v. Garofalo, 453 So.2d 905, 906-07 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). Respondent additionally maintains that the course of conduct pursued by the Petitioner served to waive the defense he now utilizes.

If the state does not allege the tolling of the statute in an otherwise sufficient information or indictment, a defendant may by his actions waive his defense.

² Petitioner was aware of the second prosecution in that his first manslaughter conviction of March 3, 1984 was reversed and remanded for a new trial on August 4, 1386. (R. 710).

Sturdivan v. State, 419 So.2d 300, 302 (Fla. 1982) (emphasis added). Petitioner in responding to the information without raising this defense waived it. Furthermore, Petitioner does not allege prejudice due to what he claims to be an untimely prosecution, and therefore, as in Sturdivan, a finding of no prejudice is necessitated. Id. at 303.

The trial court's order denying Petitioner's Motion for Judgment of Acquittal (R. 710-713) is instructive in its recitation of applicable case law. (Appendix B). As to the waiver issue, in addition to <u>Sturdivan</u>, <u>supra</u>, the court notes the opinion in <u>Tucker v. State</u>, 417 So.2d 1006 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982), wherein the Court stated that "[a] defendant who believes that a criminal statute of limitations no longer works to his advantage, should be permitted to waive that statute. . . "

Id. at 1013.

Cases referenced by Petitioner, in the hopes of persuading this Court of the bar to a manslaughter prosecution due to the alleged running of the statute of limitations, are singularly inappropriate in that they are procedurally deviant from the instant case. Petitioner chooses not to emphasize the major variance that demands affirmance of the lower court's opinion: the original prosecution, the subsequent reversal and remand for a new trial without violating double jeopardy prohibitions. Petitioner's guaranteed right to a direct appeal does not auger to his benefit to the extent that a remand for retrial could be barred by statute leaving the prosecution in a

legal "Catch 22." The Petitioner's direct appeal inherently negates the question of a statute of limitations bar.

The sole purpose of a statute of limitations in a criminal context is to prevent the state from hampering defense preparation by delaying prosecution until a point in time when its evidence is stale and defense witnesses have died, disappeared or otherwise become unavailable . . . Since one who has been squarely put on notice of criminal activities with which he is charged is in a position to begin preparation of a defense on those charges, courts have traditionally held that a valid indictment tolls the statute of limitations, and that return of a superceding indictment prior to dismissal of the original indictment does not violate the statute of limitations if the superceding indictment does not substantially alter the charge.

Garofalo at 906 (emphasis added) (citation omitted). Respondent notes that Petitioner was on notice of this second prosecution, as of the <u>remand</u> of his first conviction. Accordingly, Respondent respectfully requests this Court's affirmance of the Petitioner's conviction, and the District Court's ruling and to answer the certified question in the affirmation -- the prosecution of the second information is a continuation of the original prosecution so that the statute of limitations remains tolled throughout the prosecution.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY
ADMITTED ALL TRIAL TESTIMONY AND
EVIDENCE AS THE MATERIAL
ADMITTED WAS PERTINENT TO
PETITIONER'S MANSLAUGHTER
CONVICTION AND WAS NOT A DOUBLE
JEOPARDY VIOLATION.

Petitioner was on trial for, and was convicted of, manslaughter in violation of § 782.07, Fla. Stat. Petitioner appeals this conviction based on a double jeopardy claim --Petitioner's prior acquittal for first degree murder should allegedly have precluded testimony, in his manslaughter trial, regarding "intent" to kill. Respondent posits that Petitioner was not charged with first degree murder, that the charging document presented the crime of manslaughter by act, procurement or culpable negligence; culpable negligence evidences a crime committed "equivalent to an intentional violation of the rights of others []" Dominique v. State, 435 So.2d 974 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983), and therefore no violation of double jeopardy prohibitions occurred. Further, testimony underlying the alleged "intent" evidence was based on establishing the distance of the gun muzzle to the victim. The Petitioner opened the door to this line of testimony (R. 104), and nonetheless, it did not evidence intent.

The proof requisite to a conviction for manslaughter by act, procurement or culpable *negligence* was sufficiently presented to the jury for the conviction to be valid and supportable. The evidence presented did not duplicate the first trial, nor did it place Petitioner in double jeopardy, as proof

of manslaughter was required even though an overlap in the context of the evidence may have resulted.

The Double Jeopardy Clause protects a person against successive prosecutions for the same crime, not against successive prosecutions for two <u>different</u> crimes that happen to include the same underlying act.

<u>United States v. Ruggiero</u>, 754 F.2d 927, 934 (11th Cir. 1985). (emphasis supplied).

The test is whether the defendant has been twice in jeopardy, for the same identical crime, not whether he has been tried before upon the same acts, circumstances or situation the facts of which may sustain a conviction for a separate crime.

. . [I]f the facts which will convict on a second prosecution would not necessarily have sustained a conviction on the former prosecution for the crime there charged, then the first prosecution will not stand as a bar to the second, although the offenses charged may have been committed in the same transaction.

State v. Bowden, 18 So.2d 478, 480 (Fla. 1944). The Appellant's double jeopardy claim does not fit the circumstances, sub judice. The charging documents of each case alleged different crimes that require different findings by the jury in order to convict. Contrary to Petitioner's argument that the Prosecutor improved his case by eliminating family witnesses, who may have since recanted their version of events, the state presented only evidence of manslaughter, and consequently did not have to bring in family members whose prior testimony had gone to prove intent to commit premeditated murder. Nonetheless, proof of manslaughter by culpable negligence includes more than proof of an involuntary act.

Florida courts have given a special definition to "culpable negligence."

Instead of construing it to emphasize involuntary and unintentional behavior, they have construed it to emphasize culpability which rest on intentional, or quasi-intentional, behavior

Carlton v. Wainwright, 588 F.2d 162, 164 (5th Cir. 1979); accord Taylor v. State, 444 So.2d 931, 933 (Fla. 1983). The information subjudice charged Petitioner with manslaughter in the disjunctive, and therefore did not limit the conviction to culpable negligence which the Taylor court determined cannot, under certain circumstances, be a crime of intent as can manslaughter by the act or procurement, Id. at 934, at least when the charge is attempted manslaughter. The trial court agreed with the Taylor characterizations. (R. 600).

Clearly the <u>alleged</u> "intent" testimony was necessary as proof of an implied element of the charged offense. Double jeopardy prohibitions have not been violated herein as both first and second degree murder require findings different than those requisite to a manslaughter conviction. <u>United States v.</u>

<u>Caporale</u>, 806 F.2d 1487, 1517 (11th Cir. 1986). <u>See State v.</u>

<u>Baker</u>, 456 So.2d 419 (Fla. 1984), <u>Carawan v. State</u>, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987). Petitioner's factual reliance on <u>Ashe v. Swenson</u>, 397 U.S. 436, 90 S. Ct. 1189, 25 L.Ed.2d 469 (1970) is misplaced; Ashe having supplied an alibi as to one robbery, was factually precluded from committing the second robbery, and therefore that allegation violated double jeopardy prohibitions. In the case at bar, the Petitioner, having been acquitted of premeditated

murder, still had to answer for the manslaughter -- the killing was never denied, and the jury, being instructed on excusable homicide, chose to convict Petitioner of manslaughter.

Petitioner claims the Prosecutor pushed the defense witness, Dr. Tate, into saying under certain specified circumstances that the crime would be homicide. The Court requested Petitioner to suggest a curative instruction.

THE COURT: I deny your motion for mistrial. What kind of curative do you want me to give?

MR. BROCK [defense counsel]: I would ask for a curative instruction and a mistrial.

THE COURT: What curative do you want?

MR. BROCK: I would ask you to instruct the jury to disregard the question. That question is inappropriate. And then once that's done I would suggest to the Court any instruction you can use except mistrial.

THE COURT: No point in a curative then.

(R. 166-67). Petitioner has not demonstrated any prejudice resulting from the alleged "intent" testimony. The Petitioner was not charged with murder, the jury was not instructed as to murder. The testimony was elicited to demonstrate distance of muzzle to target; and, in fact, Petitioner opened the door to the subject matter.

- Q. Were you trying to determine the distance from which the shot was fired?
- A. Yes.

- Q. Why were you trying to determine points of entry and angle and distance?
- A. Well, for several reasons. That's important in any gunshot wound. There are three types of gunshot wounds. Basically, they are: Contact or near contact gunshot wounds: the second type is intermediate range gunshot wounds; and the third type is indeterminate.

(R. 104). Petitioner speculation as to what the jury's interpretation of this testimony might be is an improper basis upon which to base legal argument. Rowell v. State, 382 So.2d 886 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980); Sullivan v. State, 303 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1974).

In requesting this Court's affirmance of Petitioner's conviction for manslaughter, Respondent notes that "[a] single transaction however, can give rise to distinct offenses under separate statutes without violating the double jeopardy clause of the fifth amendment." Arnold v. State, 514 So. 2d 419, 421 (Fla. 1987). Sub judice, the single action of a gun firing while in Petitioner's control gave rise to proper prosecutions for both the first degree murder charge and the subsequent, refiled, manslaughter conviction. Accordingly, the trial court properly admitted evidence and Petitioner's conviction must be affirmed.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL.

Petitioner alleges reversible error occurred due to the trial court's denial of his Motion for Mistrial which was based on admission of evidence which was contrary to defense's assumption that no defense witness would be necessary to rebut the blood spatter testimony. In addition to the omission of allegations of prejudice resulting from his "undue surprise," the Petitioner fails to legally substantiate his position.

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